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The Burton Woods District is comprised of six adjacent dwellings at the comer of Davis Mill Road and Brink Road, in 
Germantown, Montgomery County, Maryland. The district is in a rural suburb, which includes developments like Burton Woods 
with heavily wooded large lots consisting primarily of one residence each. The single-family residences comprising the district 
were built from 1962 through 1972 and include: 21413 Davis Mill Road (built 1963), 21409 Davis Mill Road (built 1967), 21405 
Davis Mill Road (built 1962), 21401 Davis Mill Road (built 1963), 10505 Brink Road (built 1972), and 10501 Brink Road (built 
1963). The construction dates for these dwellings were obtained from the Maryland Department of Assessment and Taxation Real 
Property Data Search in April 2013. The district was viewed at street level for this assessment. 

21413 Davis Mill Road 

The property at 21413 Davis Mill Road is not fully visible from street level, due to a three-hundred-foot setback and dense wooded 
surroundings; however, basic information was obtained from the field view. Possibly Neocolonial in style, this is a west-facing, 
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ymmetrical, two-story dwelling with a one-and-a-half-story wing and two-car garage. The residence, wing, and garage exhibit · 
gable roofs, and a central interior chimney is present on the main building. A front gable entry porch is located slightly south of the 
center of the building. An asphalt driveway leads from Davis Mill Road to the residence, and this front of the property has wood 
fencing. 

21409 Davis Mill Road 

The property at 21409 Davis Mill Road is a two-story, vinyl-sided Neocolonial residence with an attached one-story, two-bay 
garage. The dwelling' s north-facing fa9ade consists ofa five-bay portion with a slightly lowered and recessed two-bay wing. The 
residence has two side gable roofs, clad in asphalt shingles with overhanging eaves. A capped exterior end chimney at the roof 
ridge is located on the east elevation, and an interior slope chimney is located on the wing. Five sash windows are located on the 
second floor of the main building, while two sash windows are located on second floor of the wing. The first floor of the main 
building contains four sash windows and a central, two-panel, two-light door with a four light transom. A small entryway, raised 
above two steps, is located in front of the door. The wing includes a series of vertical half-height windows adjacent to the garage. 
All fa9ade window openings have flanking shutters. 

The side gable, saltbox roof of the two-bay garage is clad in asphalt shingle and exhibits overhanging eaves. A single one-over-one 
sash window with flanking shutters is located at the north elevation. 

The dwelling displays an approximately one-hundred-and-forty-foot setback on a northwest sloping lot. A steeper rise occurs 
adjacent to the dwelling' s fa9ade. An asphalt driveway in an L-shaped plan leads from Davis Mill Road directly to the garage and 
the property is surrounded by wood fencing. 

21405 Davis Mill Road 

The property at 21405 Davis Mill Road is a two-story, three-bay, stretcher bond brick-clad Neocolonial residence with a one-story, 
bree-bay wing and carport at the southwest elevation. The main residence includes a side gable roof, asphalt shingles, and a 

capped, exterior end chimney at the ridge peak of the northwest-facing fa9ade. The side elevations have slightly overhanging eaves. 
Four sets of openings on the main building fa9ade each contain two six-over-six sash windows flanked by shutters and with a brick 
header course sill. The lower openings are each capped by a soldier course brink lintel. Two steps lead to an entry porch, flanked 
on either side by wood handrails. A two pane, one panel doorway is flanked by four lights on either side. The basement level is 
exposed on the northeast elevation. The southwest elevation of the main building exhibits a louvered vent at its peak and two six­
over-six sash windows with header course sills. 

The wing exhibits a side gable roof with asphalt shingles and two six-over-six sash windows with flanking shutters. A central 
doorway is located on the southwest elevation within the carport. Ten-light, full height fixed windows are located on either side of 
the door. 

The dwelling displays an approximately fifty-foot setback on a northwest sloping lot. A steep rise at Davis Mill Road is observed. 
An asphalt driveway leads from Davis Mill Road directly to the carport and the property is surrounded by wood fencing. 

2140 I Davis Mill Road 

The property at 21401 Davis Mill Road is a two-story, five-bay, frame Neocolonial style dwelling with a massed linear plan and 
gambrel roof A one-and-one-half story, one-bay garage and wing with a saltbox roof is attached to the east end. A central, gable 
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Burton Woods District 

all, exterior end chimney is located on the main building, and a stretcher course, interior ridge chimney is located at a transition 
from garage to living space in the wing. The main building chimney is capped with a chimney cap, and the garage chimney has two 
visible, open chimney flues. Both chimneys exhibit proximal corbelled ends. The roofs are clad in asphalt shingle and have 
aluminum gutters and downspouts in the comers of the buildings. 

The north-facing facade of the main building is clad in vinyl siding and wood shingles on the side elevations. Four symmetrical one­
over-one sash windows are present at the first floor level. They are flanked by accompanying louvered shutters. The four-paneled 

· front door is flanked by louvered shutters and porch lights. A slightly raised concrete entry porch is surrounded by wood railing. A 
single concrete step leads to the central entrance. Lattice work is present at ground level and an exposed concrete masonry unit 
foundation is visible at the base of the building. 

The garage exhibits wood shingles to ground level at the two elevations visible from the street. The east-facing facade has a single 
garage door with windows above, and the north elevation has a canted bay window. The bay window, which exhibits an extended 
shingle roof, consists of a large fixed opening and two two-paned, sash side windows at ninety degree angles. Single recessed 
panels are located below the openings. 

The dwelling sits on an approximately sixty-foot setback above Davis Mill Road, following a steep rise. After the steep rise, the lot 
is relatively level. An asphalt driveway with a gradual rise leads from Davis Mill Road to the garage in an L-shaped plan on the 
east side of the property. Pedestrian pathways are located at the front of the property, leading from the driveway, where three steps 
are located at the rise in the property, to the entry porch, and from the entry porch to the edge of the property, just before Davis 
Mill Road. 

10505 Brink Road 

The property at I 0505 Brink Road is a stretcher course-clad, one-story Ranch residence with an exposed basement level. A 
capped, central ridge brick chimney with proximal corbelling is located within the asphalt shingle, low pitched, double side gable 
oofwith overhanging eaves. A small gable wing protrudes from the rear of the dwelling. A fifteen-light bay window is located just 
orthwest of the center of the dwelling's southwest-facing facade. The facade has four other smaller windows. Two small but wide 

sash windows are located at the basement level on the southeast side of the facade. All facade windows have louvered shutters. A 
door slightly southeast of the center of the dwelling is accessible by a set of steps leading to a raised entry porch. The steps ascend 
parallel to the dwelling from the front yard and include one flight and wood railing. The entry porch extends just past the bay 
window and also includes a railing. Lattice work is present under the steps and porch. 

The dwelling displays an approximately fifty-foot setback on a lot with a raised driveway and lower front yard. A steeper rise 
occurs adjacent to the facade. An asphalt driveway extends from Brink Road to the northwest side of the dwelling. The front door 
is accessible without steps from this raised driveway. A detached one-and-one-half story garage with gambrel roof, also accessed 
by an asphalt driveway, is located in the northeast end of the lot. Wood picket fencing borders the front of the property. 

1050 I Brink Road 

The property at I 0501 Brink Road is not fully visible from street level , due to a one-hundred-foot setback and dense trees and 
brush; however, basic information was obtained from the field view. The Contemporary residence is an asymmetrical, linear plan 
one-story dwelling with wings at the facade, and the south and rear elevations. An outbuilding is present southwest of the dwelling. 
The residence and outbuilding exhibit flat roofs. 
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.ROPERTY HISTORY 

Early Burton Woods Area History 

Burton Woods consists ofa small triangle and expansion of development between Davis Mill Road, Brink Road, and Blunt Road, 
northeast of the center of Germantown. The Davis Mill Road/Brink Road comer of the triangle was the first inkling of what would 
later expand into other Burton Woods developments that continue to be built today. This early Burton Woods development is part 
of the suburban expansion associated with the construction of Interstate 270. Therefore, Burton Woods District is related to 
construction ofa major highway and as the precursor of future luxury development on the outskirts of the Montgomery County 
Agricultural Reserve. 

The habitation of Burton Woods proper can be traced back to 1704, when hunters and squatters constructed a log cabin about three 
quarters of a mile down the road from what would be the Burton Woods District. An expanded cabin, as well as a large amount of 
land, was handed down to James Brooke in 1723. Brooke deeded to his son over 15,000 acres, stretching from Sandy Spring to 
Germantown, an area also known as Sycamore Hollow. James Brooke continued the succession of property to Gerald Brooke, who 
transferred it to Harry Woodward Dorsey in 1814. Additions to the residence (later the Waters House) occurred in 1720, 1740, and 
1800 (M-NCPPC 2013). The Waters House (M: 14-52), later owned by the Charles H. Burton and Mary S. Burton was the focal 
point ofthis largely rural area. It has undergone significant expansion and alteration over the decades, but it was the sole residence 
in Burton Woods proper until the 1960s. The property is still standing today with intact additions. On 1865 and 1879 historic 
maps, Dorsey is identified inhabiting the Waters House property, but the area is otherwise sparsely developed (McDaniel 1979 and 
Hopkins 1879). Deed records indicate the property was transferred to Washington D. Waters after 1885; Waters already owned 
other properties in the area. In 1908 and 1941, the vicinity and the location of the Burton Woods District are shown as vacant on 
historic maps, but the Waters House is identified (USGS 1908, 1941). A series ofother transfers followed until 1953, when the 
property was transferred from Marks to Burton. 

Germantown Development 

In 1836, Jacob and Dorothy Snyder put down roots in the area on a farm . Several years later, several families occupied the area, 
cross streets were established, and the Metropolitan Branch of the B&O Railroad was laid. Mills developed along the railroad in 
subsequent years. Germantown was established by 1865. By the early 1900s, Germantown had two general stores, one post office, 
three churches, one bank, one doctor' s office, one barber, and one school (Kelly 2001). 

Under President Dwight D. Eisenhower, the Federal Aid Highway Act of 1956 was implemented. It funded the development of 
41 ,000 miles of national interstate and defense highways, including 5,000 miles of urban freeways (Ames and McClelland 2002). 
The construction of what is now Interstate 270 was completed in 1957, near Germantown, and home building started in full force . 
Shopping centers, one hotel, schools, and a community college were built, and the commercial center of Germantown moved closer 
to the highway, just a short distance from Burton Woods. A train that passed through the area carried commuters to surrounding 
city centers (Germantown Historical Society 2013). In 1965, Germantown' s population was approximately 600. Within 20 years, 
the population had grown to 30,000 (Soderberg 1988). 

The Atomic Energy Commission headquarters, built in Germantown in 1957, was a catalyst for development in the area. The site 
was chosen because of its relationship to Washington, D.C. The former 109-acre farm along the Washington National Pike hosted 
a major government where more than 1,500 employees worked in 1958 (U.S. Department of Energy 2013). Because Germantown 
was so close to Interstate 270 and Washington, D.C., suburban neighborhoods developed in the area and continue to develop 
today. Within Germantown, shopping centers, businesses, and government functions supported a growing community. 
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Burton Woods District 

"On Wedges and Corridors" echoed and supplemented the goals and beliefs ofa 1957 plan that stated there should be an orderly 
regional development of residential communities, shopping areas, and business centers, with large open spaces preserved to the 
greatest extent possible; the residential communities were meant to be well designed, "free of scattered commercial and industrial 
uses, with good street widths and lots sizes and adequate local parks and playgrounds." The shopping centers were also to be well­
designed and convenient, with little impact on neighboring properties. The industrial parks were to be planned to avoid impact to 
residential areas. There was to be a logical distribution of school and park facilities, identified early in order to avoid rising land 
costs. The highway system was to be designed with well-located main arterials and space in the right-of-way for future widening. 
The rapid transit system was to be improved, joining business areas to residential areas (M-NCPPC 1964). Suburban developments 
of the 1960s were nestled between urban centers, rural corridors, and rural space. The plan set into motion the preservation of rural 
areas, established a Rural Zone in the 1970s, and dedicated an Agricultural Reserve in the northern portion of the county in 1980. 
Today, portions of the 90,000 acre Agricultural Reserve are located just north of Burton Woods. 

In the early 1970s, the Montgomery County Government laid out Germantown as a "Corridor City" under "On Wedges and 
Corridors: A General Plan for the Maryland-Washington Regional District in Montgomery and Prince George's County," 
developed because of the construction of Interstate 270 in the 1960s. The plan was necessary to ensure sound development would 
occur as a result of the construction oflarge roads providing easy commutes to and from the region (Germantown Historical 
Society 2013). The plan dedicated areas within the county as farmland and forest and restricted development to areas along the 
highway. 

Burton Woods Development 

In the 1960s, the Burtons owned a large amount of land, including over 150 acres north of the intersection of Davis Mill Road and 
Brink Road. Almost the entirety of the triangular area bounded by Davis Mill Road, Brink Road, and Blunt Road was owned by the 
Burtons as well (Montgomery County 1967). Although a few other parcels in the vicinity show development at this time, it was not 
until 1961 that six lots were deeded by Charles H. Burton to Edwin H. and Augusta W. Bowling for development. One half of the 
· terest in the property was deeded to Jimmie G. and Thelma J. Deoudes (Montgomery County Circuit Court 2013). This was the 
start of a period of subdivision development in this rural area, likely spurred on by Interstate 270 and residential development 
closer to Germantown, along Brink Road, and in the larger area. 

Augusta "Kay" Bowling was a realtor based in Gaithersburg. She and her husband Edwin (deceased 1962), bought the property for 
development. Kay Burton started selling real estate in 1943 under the name Kay Bowling Real Estate Company, developing 
subdivisions and properties. Previously, she worked for the War Department during World War II and later owned a restaurant and 
grocery store in Gaithersburg. In 1992, she closed her company and became an associate with Ken Crowley Re/Max Realty Group 
in Gaithersburg. She went on to act as a Director of the Montgomery County Board of Realtors and the Montgomery County 
Chamber of Commerce. (Washington Post 1995). 

Aerial photography from 1963 shows that dwellings at 21401 and 21405 Davis Mill Road are present at that time (Netronline 
2009). Property records confirm the construction of21401 Davis Mill Road in 1962; 21405 Davis Mill Road in 1962; 21409 Davis 
Mill Road in 1967; 21413 Davis Mill Road in 1963; 10501 Brink Road in 1963; and 10505 Brink Road in 1972 (Montgomery 
County Circuit Court 2013). The development is part of the first stage of construction in an area that would later be known as 
Burton Woods, seemingly built parcel by parcel. 

The Burton Woods parcel containing six lots was bought by the Bowlings from the Burtons in 1961 for ten dollars. The Deoudeses 
contributed ten dollars to the Bowlings for one half interest in the property at that time. The property at 21405 Davis Mill Road 

MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST REVIEW 

Eligibility recommended Eligibility not recommended 

Criteria: A B c D Considerations: A B c D E F G 

MHT Comments: 

Reviewer, Office of Preservation Services Date 

Reviewer, National Register Program Date 



NR-ELIGIBILITY REVIEW FORM 

M: 19-42 Burton Woods District 

Page6 

as valued at $29,950 in 1964. In 1991 , the property was deeded for $208,000. In 2005, the property was deeded for $601 ,000 
(Montgomery County Circuit Court 2013). Property values had skyrocketed in the area, likely due to other high-value development 
in the area. 

The Burton Woods triangle and expansions became larger through the decades, following initial development. Development 
continued in full force during the 1970s. Even today, additions are being made north of Davis Mill Road and Brink Road. This 
large area has come to be known, commonly, as Burton Woods. Separate entrances to similarly small developments and cul-de­
sacs extend from Davis Mill, Brink, and Blunt Roads. The Burton Woods District represents the central core of suburban 
development in this immediate area, a reaction to highway construction in a largely rural tract north of Germantown. 

Post-World War II Suburbs 

Following World War II, there was a concerted need for new housing, both because individuals were returning from war and 
because individuals had the financial capabilities to own homes. In the assistance and support ofnew home ownership, the Federal 
Housing Administration and National Housing Act of 1934 allowed more individuals to easily purchase homes with low down 
payments and monthly debt service payments on a mortgage. The development of the suburbs met the needs of homeowners and 
facilitated the short commutes of the automobile era, while, at the same time, offering newly affordable options (KCI 1999). 

American suburbs were being developed as early as 1830. Ames and McClelland define four periods of suburban development: 1) 
Railroad and Horsecar Suburbs, 1830 to 1890; 2) Streetcar Suburbs, 1888 to 1928; 3) Early Automobile Suburbs, 1908 to 1945; 4) 
Post-World War II and Early Freeway Suburbs, 1945 to 1960. The "freeway" or "bedroom" suburb was a main factor in post­
World War II development. The Baby Boom, economical building methods, and cars all contributed to this steadfast trend. During 
this period, Cape Cod, Ranch, and Contemporary-style houses predominated. The Cape Cod was often mass-produced for low­
income housing in large neighborhoods, often on curvilinear streets or in cul-de-sacs. Upper- and middle-income families 
commonly used simplified pre-war models, including the Cape Cod and Colonial Revival. The Ranch house was a preferred choice 
through the 1960s. The forms included the split level and contemporary design, or detail, features. It offered space and privacy, as 
well as separated, functional rooms. Contemporary designs also predominated during this period. Architects including Frank Lloyd 
Wright, Walter Gropius, Marcel Breuer, Richard J. Neutra, and Mies van der Rohe were looked to for inspiration. These house 
styles featured many of their details or methods for small houses (Ames and McClelland 2002). 

Previously recorded post-World War II suburban developments were reviewed as a reference for comparison. The developments 
were recorded following standards and guidelines. These properties represent early and recent efforts to evaluate the more recent 
topic of American suburbs and their significance. A summary of the resources, which were compared and contrasted, are listed 
below. 

Veirs Mill Village Subdivision (M:31-23) consists of one-and-one-half story, three-bay Colonial Revival houses in Montgomery 
County, which were constructed between 1947 and 1949 (Tamburrino 2003). This subdivision contains a much larger and more 
homogenous display of architecture than Burton Woods. Unlike typical subdivisions of the 1950s and later, Burton Woods does 
not retain a planned development function or aesthetic and is, instead, a collection of individually built homes built at varying times 
with no clear unifying architectural consistency. Veirs Mill Village Subdivision was found ineligible for the National Register of 
Historic Places (National Register) because it is common and indistinctive under Criteria A, B, and C. 

Connecticut Gardens (M :31 -24) consists of thirteen one-and-one-half story cottages dating to the late 1940s and into the 1960s. 
Two types of house are present in the district. It was determined that the district is not associated with significant trends or persons, 
nor is it a specimen of distinctive architecture. It was determined that the buildings represent a low-cost solution for post-war 
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ousing (Darsie 1998). In many respects, Burton Woods consists of more expensive examples for the time and county as a whole. 
In many ways, the lack of contiguous design is noted as a luxury for an era when typical homes were produced fast and 
economically. 

Burnt Mills Hills Subdivision (M:33-29) was considered eligible for the National Register with a period of significance to include 
1934-1968. The resource is associated with significant architects and residents and is a significant example of community planning, 
a "community of country estates." A number of house forms and styles are present in the large community (Kelly 2012). Although 
there is similarity between Burton Woods and Burnt Hill Mills, due to the array of styles represented, Burton Woods lacks the 
same uniformity of architectural styles and association with significant masters or individuals. 

EV AULA TION OF SIGNIFICANCE 

Burton Woods was evaluated according to the criteria set out in "National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National 
Register Criteria for Evaluation" (Andrus & Shrimpton 1990) and in "National Register Bulletin: Historic Residential Suburbs 
Guidelines for Evaluation and Documentation for the National Register of Historic Places" (Ames and McCelland 2002). 

The integrity of the Burton Woods District was assessed on-site. It was found that the buildings do hold certain aspects of integrity. 
The district retains the integrity of location as the core of development for Burton Woods proper and the area. The district retains 
integrity of design, including the form, plan, space, structure, and style of the respective properties since construction, as 
historically reviewed. The district retains integrity of immediate setting; despite changes in landscaping, the rural setting of the 
district is intact. However, the larger area has evolved, and development has occurred over time. The district itself is still within a 
rural area, but it is now "crowded" with rural subdivisions south of Brink Road and northwest of the district. The district retains 
integrity of materials and workmanship. Despite color changes in the materials, the district is relatively unchanged. The district 
retains the integrity offeeling. The immediate area still retains its rural character. The district does not retain integrity of 
association, little has changed within the immediate environs and one could say its current representation is very similar to its 
period of significance. 

Burton Woods is not eligible for listing under Criterion A, for association with an important event or trend. Although the Burton 
Woods District is associated with early suburbanization due to the creation of an interstate, interstates were created throughout the 
Maryland/Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. Countless examples representing this trend are present. As interstates were 
constructed, areas surrounding them were developed at a rapid pace. This trend contributed to an increase in housing, abetting the 
ability to create typical communities throughout the region. This district is neither renowned in that trend nor an important 
illustration of the developing trends surrounding communities affected by interstate development. 

Burton Woods is not eligible, under Criterion B, for association with significant people. Based on research conducted for the 
properties comprising the Burton Woods District, no significant people inhabited the dwellings, developed the area, or were 
associated with the construction of the building. 

Burton Woods is not eligible, under Criterion C, for architectural significance. The district contains common and disparate 
examples of housing built for those of moderate or slightly above-average means, linked by the common factor of early 
development in the area. Burton Woods contains typical examples of suburban architecture, with no architecturally distinctive or 
renowned buildings. 

Burtons Woods is not eligible, under Criterion D for information potential. Little information could be obtained through 
archaeological investigation. An understanding of the history of this district can be adequately grasped through the examination of 
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evritten records. 

The Burton Woods District is not eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, because it does not meet the 
significance criteria necessary to make it eligible. 
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Burton Woods District 
M: 19-42 
Photo Log 
Germantown, MD 20876 

Photo Inventory 
Number Photograph 

Number 
1/6 M· ,_ 2013-04-

09_01.tif 
2/6 M· ,_ 2013-04-

09_02.tif 

3/6 M· ,_ 2013-04-
09_03.tif 

4/6 M · ,_ 2013-04-
05_04.tif 

5/6 M · ,_ 2013-04-
09_05.tif 

6/6 M· ,_ 2013-04-
09_06.tif 

Direction Photo 
Facing Location 

SE Davis Mill 
Road 

SE Davis Mill 
Road 

s Davis Mill 
Road 

SW Davis Mill 
Road 

N Brink Road 

N Brink Road 

Date: 4/9/13 
Photographer: Suzanne Stasiulatis 
camera: Nikon D80 

Subject 

21413 Davis Mill Road - NW elevation 

21409 Davis Mill Road - NW fa~ade and 
SW elevation 
21405 Davis Mill Road - NW fa~ade and 
NE elevation 

21401 Davis Mill Road - N fa~ade and E 
elevation 

10505 Brink Road - SW fa~ade 

10501 Brink Road - S facade 

*Photographs are printed on Hewlett Packard Premium Plus Photo Paper (glossy) with HP Vivera inks. 


























